RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN**08-17-2015** COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2015AP865-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS

Alejandro Herrera-Ayala, Defendant- Respondent.

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

By: Carley N. Miller Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1082284

Brown County District Attorney's Office Law Enforcement Center 300 East Walnut Street P.O. Box 23600 Green Bay, WI 54305-3600 (920) 448-4190

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Brown County, Hon. Marc A. Hammer, Circuit Judge, presiding.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the officers' administration of the field sobriety tests rendered the results of Alejandro Herrera-Ayala's performance unreliable.

The court specifically held 1) that the arresting officer had the requisite level of reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop and conduct field sobriety tests; but 2) the officer lacked probable cause to arrest Alejandro Herrera-Ayala under the totality of the circumstances. The court held that the officers failure to remedy the language barrier during the administration of field sobriety tests rendered them unreliable, and held that a Preliminary Breath Test should have been administered.

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2015AP865-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS

Alejandro Herrera-Ayala, Defendant- Respondent.

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S BRIEF

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument or publication.

On January 31, 2014, a three-count criminal complaint was filed charging Alejandro Herrera-Ayala with Operating While Intoxicated-Second Offense, Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration-Second Offense, and Operating While Revoked-Second Offense based on an incident that occurred on Saturday, November 16, 2013.

On August 21, 2014, Alejandro Herrera-Ayala via defense counsel filed an initial motion challenging 1) the reasonable suspicion for the administration of Standardized Field Sobriety Tests (SFSTs), 2) the probable cause to arrest; and 3) that the evidence obtained therefrom violated the Alejandro Herrera-Ayala's constitutional rights.

On October 29, 2014, a motion hearing was held following the filing of the defense's motion. In anticipation of the motion hearing, the defense provided the circuit court with the squad video. *See* Green Bay Police Dept. COBAN Video (Aug. 21, 2014).

The video depicts a white Blazer making a left hand turn in front of Officer Asplund's squad camera. The squad makes a U-turn, and when the car pulls around, the Blazer is parked, and there is a man walking away from the Blazer towards the squad car. See id.at 00:00-00:45. Officer Asplund makes contact with the subject, and asks his whether he speaks English. The man (later identified as Alejandro Herrera-Ayala) answers, in English, "yes." Id. at 01:48. Officer Asplund asks him why he parked his car there. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala answers, again in English, "I don't have no car." Officer Asplund tells him he saw him get out of the Blazer. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala answers in English, "no, no." Id. at 01:48-02:00. The officers ask Alejandro Herrera-Ayala multiple questions in English. He asks "what?", they repeat themselves, and he answers the questions appropriately in English. Id. at 03:30. One officer asks him to spell his name, and he responds in English. He uses mixed Spanish and English when explaining how many drinks he had. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala provided his date of birth in English as "3-15-85." Officers learn from dispatch that he has one prior Operating While Intoxicated (OWI) conviction. Id. at 03:31-07:43. The officers ask him to move towards the front of the squad car. Although they repeat the request a few times, Alejandro Herrera-Ayala ultimately complies. Id. at 08:40. Officer Asplund asks Alejandro Herrera-Ayala, "You were driving that car, right?" and makes a driving gesture with his hands. Id at. 10:12. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala continues to deny in English that he was driving the car. Id. Officer Asplund tells him everything is being recorded on his camera, and says "see that blinking red light, look at my car." Alejandro

Herrera-Ayala turns to look at the car. *Id.* Alejandro Herrera-Ayala continues to use English to explain that he was not driving and claims he was walking down the street. *Id.* at 10:48-11:47. Officer Brann arrives, and they ask him to translate for field sobriety tests. He can be heard saying he would get questioned on the stand about his fluency, and does not feel comfortable translating. *Id.* at 15:30. Officer Brann conducts a brief Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus (HGN) test on Alejandro Herrera-Ayala, and the officers discuss whether to perform field sobriety tests in Spanish. *Id.* at 17:20-18:00. The officers locate Alejandro Herrera-Ayala's ID and wallet in the Blazer. When confronted with it, Alejandro Herrera-Ayala says he wasn't driving. Again, he denies driving in English. *Id.* at 18:39. When Officer Brann hears him do so, Officer Brann exclaims, "Why am I speaking Spanish?! He's speaking English!" *Id.* at 18:49. In English, Alejandro Herrera-Ayala denies ownership of the wallet. *Id.* at 19:07.

Officer Asplund and Officer Brann administer the HGN test. Id. at 19:35. Officer Brann gives instructions in Spanish, and Officer Asplund gives instructions in English. When Officer Asplund tells Alejandro Herrera-Ayala in English to keep his arms at his sides, he straightens his arms to his side. Id. The majority of the HGN instructions were in Spanish. Id. at 19:35-21:10. Officer Asplund next conducts the walk and turn test. He gives the instructions in English. He tells Alejandro Herrera-Ayala to move over in front of the squad car. He complies, losing his balance. Id. at 21:04. In English, Officer Asplund instructs him to get back into the starting position for the Walk and Turn test. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala complies. Id. at. 22:33. Officer Asplund explains and demonstrates the test. He asks Alejandro Herrera-Ayala if he has any questions. Although Alejandro Herrera-Ayala looks back briefly over his shoulder, he does not say anything before starting the test. Id. at 22:34-23:29. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala takes too many steps, and when the officers prompt him to turn around, he does so. Id. at 23:54. He asks "nueve?", and walks back towards the squad. Id. at 23:58. In English, Officer Asplund instructs Alejandro Herrera-Ayala to get into the starting position for the one leg stand test. He complies. Id. at 24:28. Officer Asplund, in English, explains and demonstrates the test. Id. at 24:29-25:10. He explains three times using English, Spanish, and a mix of English and Spanish, that Alejandro Herrera-Ayala must count out loud, "one thousand one, one thousand dos, tres. Keep counting until I tell you to stop. One thousand one, one thousand two, one thousand three." Id. at 24:41-25:00. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala looks back over his shoulder. Id. at 25:00. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala begins the test, immediately putting his arms up. Id. at 25:09. He sways while balancing, and Officer Asplund instructs him to

watch his foot and count out loud "uno, dos, tres." *Id.* at 25:10-25:17. Officer Asplund asks him if he can count, and Alejandro Herrera-Ayala begins counting. The officers verbally react, and Alejandro Herrera-Ayala leans to his left and falls out of the position. *Id.* at 25:18-25:29. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala is placed under arrest. *Id.* at 25:32.

At the motion hearing on October 29, 2014, Officer Asplund testified that on November 16, 2013, he "was working an OWI enforcement assignment...looking for possible intoxicated drivers or other violations." Mot. Hrg. Tr. 8: 9-16. At approximately 12:42 a.m., Officer Asplund testified he observed a white Blazer on Baird Street. Id. at 8:21-23. He followed the vehicle, and observed that "it immediately took a left turn onto Cherry Street and then immediately took a right-hand turn into the very first driveway that is on Cherry Street, and then...its tires hit the curb as [it] was pulling into the driveway." Id. at 9:12-18. Officer Asplund indicated the car was too far to the right and turned too sharply into the driveway. Id. at 9:21-22. He testified he did not know at that point if the car was avoiding him or pulling into its residence. He indicated "I decided not to conduct a traffic stop" and continued down the street, where he parked and continued to observe the vehicle. Id. at 10:3-11. Officer Asplund indicated several minutes went by, and he observed the vehicle pull onto Baird Street, take a left turn heading north, and then "all of a sudden, he signaled real quick and veered left and took a sharp turn." Id. at 10:25-11:1-12. Officer Asplund testified that the turn was suspicious, because normal driving behavior includes signaling or braking more in advance of a turn. Id. On cross examination, Officer Asplund explained that he got the impression the vehicle spotted his squad car and decided to turn. Id. at 37:1-23. He then activated his headlights and attempted to catch up to the vehicle. As he turned around, he observed the driver pull quickly over to the right side of the road, exit the vehicle, travel to the other side of the road, and start walking. Id. 11:15-21.

Upon making contact with the driver on the street, Officer Asplund testified he "could smell a strong odor of intoxicants coming from him. He kind of had an accent. At times he spoke English and at times he spoke Spanish, but it appeared to be somewhat slurred." *Id.* 13: 7-19. Officer Asplund testified the subject verbally identified himself, and his ID and keys were located in the Blazer. *Id.* at 15:3-15, 40:4. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala denied driving and denied ownership of the vehicle. *Id.* at 15:4-10. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala acknowledged that he had been drinking. *Id.* at 14:13-16. Officer Asplund testified he decided to conduct field sobriety tests based on the odor of intoxicants, slurred speech, and the driving behavior.

Id. at 15: 16-25. Officer Asplund specifically testified that the car hitting the curb, the elusive driving, and the driver pulling over and abandoning the car were suspicious. Id. Because Officer Asplund was unsure whether the slurred speech was due to intoxication or potential language difficulty, he asked that Officer Brann respond to assist with the traffic stop. Id. at 16:2-18. Once Officer Brann arrived on scene, he assisted in explaining the SFSTs. Id. at 17:5-9. While conducting the HGN test, Officer Asplund testified that it appeared to him that Alejandro Herrera-Ayala understood that he needed to stand still and keep his hands at his sides before doing the test. Id. at 17:15-17. Officer Asplund observed six total clues on the HGN test. Id. at 19:9. He indicated that he explained and demonstrated the walk and turn test. Id. at 19:20-25, 20:1-2. He indicated that Alejandro Herrera-Ayala did not appear to have any difficulty understanding what the instructions were. Id. at 20:3-7. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala exhibited several clues during the performance of this test. Id. at 20:15-25, 21:1-16. Lastly, Officer Asplund testified that he explained and demonstrated the one-leg stand test. Id. at 22:1-3. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala lifted his arms, lost his balance, and put his foot down. Id. at 22:10-13. Officer Asplund testified "at times it seemed like when I would ask questions in English, he understood and was talking, and at other times, he may not have understood completely." Id. at 45:2-5. Officer Asplund indicated that he tried to use Spanish and Officer Brann to help with communication. Id. at 45:6-11. Officer Asplund testified that intoxicated people have a hard time following simple directions, therefore he did not think that the language issue was the sole reason the directions were not being followed. Id. at 47:4-11.

On November 14, 2014, a continued motion hearing was held. At that hearing, Officer Asplund testified that he could have made the OWI arrest following the HGN test based on his training and experience, his observations of the defendant, and his observation of six out of six total clues on the test. Cont'd Mot. Hrg. Tr. 86:18-24. He indicated that the defendant's performance on the walk and turn and the one-leg stand tests bolstered his decision to place Alejandro Herrera-Ayala under arrest for OWI. *Id.* at 87:1-11. He further clarified that "I don't know what he was understanding because I'm not in his head, but at times he would speak English and at [times] he would speak Spanish, so to give [him the] benefit of the doubt we called someone over to help translate and at times Officer Brann would step in and do some translation." *Id.* at 101:9-14. Officer Asplund testified at length on cross examination about his observations and administration of the HGN test. *Id.* 88-100. He indicated that on the walk and turn test, he observed six out of eight total clues. *Id.* at 107:1-12. His

updated details were marked as Exhibit 4 (referred to hereinafter as Ofc. Asplund's Rpt (Nov. 14, 2014)) and admitted into evidence. *Id.* at 113:9-25, 114-115:1-8.

Officer Jeff Brann also testified at the continued motion hearing. He indicated that he had been dispatched to Officer Asplund's stop to assist with a subject who supposedly did not speak English but spoke Spanish. *Id.* at 117:20-23. Officer Brann testified

when I responded, I was under the impression that the driver or person that Officer Asplund was out with did not speak any English at all. I explained to Officer Asplund that [with] my limited Spanish-speaking ability I wasn't comfortable administering full field sobriety tests, but I could help the driver understand some of the instructions and clarify and be able to realize if he understood or did not understand the directions. When I heard the person that Officer Asplund was with speaking in English, I asked why I was called to interpret Spanish if he was speaking English?

Id. at 118:7-18. Officer Brann indicated he conducted a quick version of the HGN test to determine whether Alejandro Herrera-Ayala would be able to understand the instructions. Officer Brann was able to observe some clues. *Id.* at 119:1-22. He indicated he believed that "Officer Asplund would be able to… administer the HGN test with the person understanding what he was supposed to do to perform the test." *Id.* at 119:18-22. He also testified that he observed the odor of intoxicants emanating from Alejandro Herrera-Ayala and believed he was intoxicated. *Id.* Officer Brann testified that based on the way that the tests were administered by himself and Officer Asplund, he believed at the time that Alejandro Herrera-Ayala understood what he was supposed to do before each of the tests. *Id.* at 121:25, 122:1-23. He indicated Alejandro Herrera-Ayala "was asking questions and challenging the reason for the stop using English terminology." *Id.* at 124:22-24. He indicated that he relied on nonverbal cues to demonstrate the portions of the test he couldn't explain in Spanish. *Id.* at 130:20-23.

On December 10, 2014, at the second continued motion hearing, the defense indicated Alejandro Herrera-Ayala would not be testifying, and submitted a copy of the National Highway Transportation Safety Administration (NHSTA) SFST Manual. *See* NHTSA SFST Training Manual (Dec. 10, 2014).

On January 9, 2015, Alejandro Herrera-Ayala via defense counsel filed a brief in support of its motion to dismiss, which fine-tuned its original arguments. Based on the testimony elicited at the motion hearings, the defense now argued that: 1) there was not the requisite level of reasonable suspicion for the administration of SFSTs; 2) the officer lacked probable cause to arrest because a) the officer's inability to effectively communicate with Alejandro Herrera-Ayala rendered the information gathered during the stop unreliable; b) the arresting officer failed to take sufficient measures to ensure accurate and meaningful communication with Alejandro Herrera-Ayala as required by Wis. Stat. §343.305(4); and c) the field sobriety tests were improperly administered, which rendered the results invalid.

On February 6, 2015, the State filed its response motion, arguing that: A) there was reasonable suspicion for the detention of Alejandro Herrera-Ayala and the administration of SFSTs; B) that there was probable cause to arrest because i) the officers were able to communicate with Alejandro Herrera-Ayala; ii) Officer Asplund complied with Wis. Stat. §343.305(4) (which governs the reading of implied consent warnings, <u>not</u> field sobriety test instructions); and iii) the field sobriety tests were properly administered by officers, who took additional steps to ensure accurate communication with Alejandro Herrera-Ayala.

On April 10, 2015, the circuit court entered its decision and order granting the defense's motion to suppress. *See* Cir. Ct. Br. V Dec. and Or. (Apr. 10, 2015). The court specifically held: 1) that the arresting officer had the requisite level of reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop and conduct field sobriety tests; but 2) the officer lacked probable cause to arrest Alejandro Herrera-Ayala under the totality of the circumstances. The court held that the language barrier affected Alejandro Herrera-Ayala's performance on the field sobriety tests such that it rendered the field sobriety tests unreliable, and held that the officer should have administered a Preliminary Breath Test to remedy the lack of factors that would have supported a valid arrest.

The State now appeals the circuit court's order.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"Whether police conduct violated the constitutional guarantee against unreasonable searches and seizures is a question of constitutional fact." *State v. Nieves*, 304 Wis.2d 182, 188 (Wis. App. 2007) (citation omitted). Constitutional questions are reviewed de novo, and the trial court's findings of evidentiary facts will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* "Trial judges are accorded wide latitude to make decisions in the exercise of their discretion. Examples of discretionary acts include... admission of evidence." Michael Heffernan, *Appellate Practice and Procedure*, §3.20 (Sixth Edition, State Bar of Wisconsin 2014). A discretionary act will be sustained if an appellate court finds that the circuit court (1) examined the relevant facts, (2) applied a proper standard of law, and (3) using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach. *Dane Cnty. Dep't of Human Servs. v. Mable K. (In re Termination of Parental Rights to Isaiah H.*), 346 Wis. 2d 396, 414 (Wis. App. 2013).

Discretion is not synonymous with decision-making. Rather, the term contemplates a process of reasoning. This process must depend on facts that are of record or that are reasonably derived by inference from the record and a conclusion based on a logical rationale founded upon proper legal standards. As we pointed out in State v. Hutnik (1968), 39 Wis.2d 754, 764, 159 N.W.2d 733, 738, '* * there should be evidence in the record that discretion was in fact exercised and the basis of that exercise of discretion should be set forth.'

McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277 (1971). A failure to delineate the factors that influenced a decision or making an error of law constitutes a misuse of a circuit court's discretion. *Id.* at 282; *also see State v. Hutnik*, 39 Wis. 2d 754, 763 (1968).

ARGUMENT

I. Officer Asplund Had Reasonable Suspicion To Detain Alejandro Herrera-Ayala And Conduct SFSTs.

A. Initial Detention

The circuit court improperly applied the standard for a traffic stop to the investigative detention in this case. Alejandro Herrera-Ayala was walking down the street by the time Officer Asplund made contact with him. Officer Asplund did not perform a traditional traffic stop of Alejandro Herrera-Ayala's vehicle. *See* Mot. Hrg. Tr. 13: 7-19. *Also see* Green Bay Police Dept. COBAN Video, 00:00-01:48(Aug. 21, 2014). "[A] police officer may in appropriate circumstances and in an appropriate manner approach a person for purposes of investigating possibly criminal behavior." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 22 (1968). "[R]easonable suspicion must be based on 'specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion.' These facts must be judged against an 'objective standard...[']." *Id.* The determination of the reasonableness of an investigatory stop "depends on the totality of the circumstances." *State v. King*, 175 Wis.2d 146, 150 (Wis. App. 1993) (citation omitted).

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