RECEIVED

10-30-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2015AP000865 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ALEJANDRO HERRERA AYALA,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Review of an Order Suppressing Evidence Entered in Brown County, the Honorable Marc A. Hammer Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

SARA KELTON BRELIE Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079775

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1770 brelies@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The primary question on appeal is whether the trial court correctly concluded that Officer Asplund lacked probable cause to arrest Herrera Ayala. Herrera Ayala also argues that this court may alternatively affirm the trial court because the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to stop him. Both are questions of constitutional fact.

On review, an appellate court "accept[s] the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous." *State v. Kennedy*, 2014 WI 132, ¶16, 359 Wis. 2d 454, 856 N.W.2d 834. When, as here, evidence in the record consists of disputed testimony and a video recording, this court applies the clearly erroneous standard of review when reviewing the trial court's findings of fact based on that recording. *State v. Walli*, 2011 WI App 86, ¶17, 334 Wis. 2d 402, 799 N.W.2d 898. The application of facts to constitutional principles is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo. Kennedy*, 359 Wis. 2d 454, ¶16. Where a violation of the Fourth Amendment right against an unreasonable search and seizure is asserted, the burden of proof in a motion

to suppress is upon the state. *State v. Taylor*, 60 Wis. 2d 506, 519, 210 N.W.2d 873 (1973).

I. There Was No Probable Cause to Arrest Herrera Ayala.

Probable cause to arrest is required by the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I. Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Probable cause to arrest "exists where the totality of the circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime." State v. Koch, 175 Wis. 2d 684, 701, 499 N.W.2d 152 (1993). Based on Herrera Ayala's limited English and the officers' failure to ensure he understood instructions or take extra precautions to accommodate the language barrier, the trial court determined that a reasonable officer could not rely on the SFSTs as evidence of intoxication for the purpose of determining probable cause. (41:12-13, 15-16). Based on that, the trial court found there was not probable cause to arrest Herrera Ayala for operating while intoxicated at the time of his arrest and suppressed the evidence derived from his arrest. (Id.).

> A. The trial court's finding that Herrera Ayala did not understand the instructions for the SFSTs is supported by the record and should not be disturbed.

In its eighteen-page written decision, the trial court noted that it had reviewed the video of the stop and that communication difficulties between the arresting officer and Herrera Ayala were apparent throughout: The video of the traffic stop is clear that there were significant communication issues between Officer Asplund and Herrera Ayala throughout the administration of the SFSTs....

Furthermore, even with Officer Brann's assistance it is clear in the video that Herrera Ayala had issues understanding the SFST instructions given to him by Officer Asplund.

(41:13). The trial court went on to note specific details from the video leading it to conclude that Herrera Ayala could not understand the instructions given. The trial court's observations included the following: (1) Herrera Ayala moved throughout the administration of the HGN test despite instructions to stand still; (2) During the walk-and-turn tests, Herrera Ayala turned toward Officer Brann on several occasions when asked if he understood instructions but was not given meaningful clarification or further instruction from Although either officer; and (3) Officer Asplund demonstrated the tests, he did not demonstrate them fully.

The trial court concluded:

[I]t was unreasonable for Officer Asplund to assume that Herrera Ayala understood the instructions just because he failed to assert otherwise. Herrera Ayala's body language should have been a clear indicat[or] to Officer Asplund to modify his instructions, to speak more slowly, or to take extra precautions to clarify that Herrera Ayala understood.

(41:15).

The state contends that the trial court's findings of fact regarding Herrera Ayala's level of understanding of English are not supported by the record. (State's Brief at 15, 17-18). That is simply not the case. The video shows communication problems between the officer and Herrera Ayala from the moment he was stopped. For example, Officer Asplund had difficulty taking down Herrera Ayala's name and other basic information in English. (18:00:45-04:15). In addition, Officer Asplund testified that he could not tell whether Herrera Ayala's speech was slurred because his accent was so thick. (50:13). The fact that Officer Asplund called a Spanishspeaking officer is also strong evidence that there was a language barrier and that Officer Asplund was aware of it. (50:16).

The state specifically complains about the trial court's reliance on Herrera Ayala's body language as evidence of his lack of understanding, arguing that Herrera Ayala's lack of testimony means that there is no evidence in the record regarding his level of understanding of the instructions.¹ (State's Brief at 15-16). The burden was on the state at the suppression hearing, and Herrera Ayala was free to rely on the video and other testimony rather than testify about his level of understanding. *See Taylor*, 60 Wis. 2d at 519. Similarly, the trial court can use all evidence before it, including Herrera Ayala's body language in the video, to

¹ At the end of the November 14, 2014, hearing the parties scheduled a third hearing because at that time, Herrera Ayala's attorney intended to call him to testify about his understanding. (51:138-40). No transcript from that hearing is in the record. However, defense counsel wrote a letter to the court explaining that she and her client had made the decision that no further testimony was necessary. (33).

decide the motion.² See State v. Owens, 148 Wis. 2d 922, 929-30, 436 N.W.2d 869 (1989). Indeed, even if this court watches the video and comes to a different conclusion about Herrera Ayala's body language, the trial court's findings based on the video are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. See Walli, 334 Wis. 2d 402, ¶17.

This court should not accept the state's or the officers' reasoning that because Herrera Ayala can be seen speaking some English, he could understand enough to perform SFSTs. First, as noted, the trial court's finding that Herrera Ayala had trouble understanding instructions given in English is supported by the record and should not be disturbed. Second, as a matter of common sense, the ability to respond to basic questions in a language does not equal the ability to understand a native speaker's instructions for SFSTs in a stressful situation.

Furthermore, because the record supports the trial court's findings regarding Herrera Ayala's language abilities, the state's reliance on the officers' testimony about their subjective beliefs regarding his language abilities is misplaced. (State's Brief at 17). The trial court was free to accept that testimony as credible or to disregard it.

² The state also implies that the trial court drew unreasonable inferences based on Herrera Ayala looking off-camera at various points but that is not the case. (State's Brief at 17-18). Careful review of the video shows exactly what the trial court said it observed—at various points during the administration of the SFSTs, Herrera Ayala looks off-camera. At times, the Spanish-speaking officer can be heard responding verbally. In addition, the Spanish-speaking officer testified that Herrera Ayala looked back toward him on several occasions during the SFSTs and that he responded by clarifying the instructions as much as he could. (51:121). Under the circumstances, the trial court's inferences are reasonable and supported by the record.

See State v. Perkins, 2004 WI App 213, ¶15, 277 Wis. 2d 243, 689 N.W.2d 684. Using evidence from Herrera Ayala's body language in the video along with other evidence, the trial court rejected the officers' assertions that they believed Herrera Ayala understood the instructions as unreasonable. (41:15-16). That finding of fact is not clearly erroneous.

B. The trial court's finding that the results of the SFSTs were unreliable indicators of his intoxication is supported by the record.

HGN test results

Officer Asplund testified that he observed six out of six clues of intoxication during the administration of the HGN test. (50:19). The state argues that the HGN test "is not instruction-dependent" because it measures "an involuntary physiological response." (State's Brief at 15). Based on that, the state argues that the results from the HGN test are reliable.

The state's assertion that "[n]othing in the record demonstrates" that the Spanish instructions for the HGN test were flawed is simply not true. (State's Brief at 15). The standardized instructions for the HGN test call for telling suspects to "[k]eep your head still and follow this stimulus with your eyes only" and to "[k]eep following the stimulus with your eyes until I tell you to stop." (35:8). Officer Asplund testified that he generally instructs suspects to keep their arms down to the side, keep their heads facing forward and follow the tip of his pen with their eyes only. (50:17-18). Officer Brann—the Spanish-speaking officer called to help—testified that what he told Herrera Ayala was to "hold his head still." (51:127). This is significant because, as the trial court noted, Herrera Ayala continued to move his body throughout the test. (18:19:15-21:00; 41:13).

There is no indication that Herrera Ayala was instructed to keep his body still or to follow the stimulus with his eyes only. As the trial court noted, no testimony addressed how this swaying impacted the results of the SFST. (41:13-14). In addition to that, the officer can be seen shining a flashlight into Herrera Ayala's eyes during the test. (18:19:15-21:00; 50:55-56). The testimony and NHSTA manual do not address what impact, if any, the flashlight may have had. Finally, the NHTSA manual lists multiple medical conditions and minor testing errors that can lead to clues being observed for reasons unrelated to intoxication. (35:5-10). Under the circumstances, the trial court's finding that the results could not be reliably attributed to intoxication is not clearly erroneous.

Walk-and turn test results

Officer Asplund described the clues he observed during the walk-and-turn test as follows:

[H]e kept a couple inches between his steps. He did more than the number of steps he was supposed to do. And I'm pretty sure he might have started early also on that, that he did an improper turn at the end of the steps, and then I actually had to physically tell him to start walking again and then he walked. He did too many steps again. I had to tell him to stop.

(50:20-21). He also mentioned that Herrera Ayala failed to count out loud. (50:20). On cross examination,

Officer Asplund acknowledged that Herrera Ayala did not lose his balance or sway in any way that he considered to be a clue. (51:107).

Put another way, all of the clues Officer Asplund testified he observed in the walk-and-turn test could be attributed to Herrera Ayala's failure to understand the specific instructions of the test because of the language barrier between him and the officers administering the test. More objective clues that would indicate intoxication regardless of one's understanding of the instructions—such as swaying or stumbling—were not present. Thus, the trial court's finding that these test results could not be attributed to intoxication is not clearly erroneous.

One-leg stand test results

Officer Asplund described Herrera Ayala's performance on the one-leg stand test as follows: "He did lift his arms up in the air and he lost his balance and put his—and put his foot down approximately 10 seconds into the step. He was pretty unsteady so at that point I terminated the test." (50:22).

The video adds context to that description. At first, Herrera Ayala stood on one leg but failed to count out loud. (18:25:00-25:30; 41:6). Officer Asplund told him again to count out loud and began counting for him. (*Id.*). He then asked Herrera Ayala "Can you count?" (*Id.*). After that, Herrera Ayala began to count out loud in Spanish. (*Id.*). At that point, Officer Asplund and other officers reacted verbally to Herrera Ayala's counting. (*Id.*). When they reacted, Herrera Ayala lost his balance somewhere between 20 and 25 seconds into a 30-second test. (*Id.*). In other words, Herrera Ayala was able to maintain his balance until the officers mocked his counting out loud. Again, the trial court's finding that the clues observed were not reliable indicators of intoxication was not clearly erroneous.

The trial court's decision

The trial court concluded that the officers in this case failed to take reasonable steps to ensure Herrera Ayala knew what was expected of him during the SFSTs. (41:15). Because of that failure, it determined that the clues observed could not reasonably be attributed to intoxication as opposed to Herrera Ayala's failure to understand the instructions for the test. (41:15-16).

The state relies heavily on the fact that the officers administered the SFSTs in a standardized manner consistent with a National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) training manual to support its contention that the results were valid and reliable. Indeed, the state complains about the trial court's suggestions for accommodating difficulties Herrera Ayala's language by repeating instructions or giving a more complete demonstration of the test in part because doing so would be inconsistent with the standardized administration of tests as laid out in the NHTSA manual. (State's Brief at 16, 17). That argument puts form over substance.

The standardized instructions presume that a suspect can understand them (or that if they cannot, it is because of intoxication rather than a language barrier). Indeed, many of the clues, including those observed in this case, are based on a suspect's failure to follow the instructions given. Certainly, the results are more reliable if a suspect understands the instructions than if the instructions are given in a standardized manner but not understood. The state's argument on this point also ignores case law rejecting defendants' attempts to challenge the results of SFSTs based on an officer's failure to follow standardized procedure to the letter. In *City of West Bend v. Wilkens*, 2005 WI App 36, ¶¶19-20, 278 Wis. 2d 643, 693 N.W.2d 324, this court has rejected the notion that SFSTs must be performed in a standardized manner in order to give rise to reliable indicators of intoxication and declined to treat SFSTs as scientific. Instead the *Wilkens* court treated the officers' observations from the SFSTs are similar to other subjective observations made by officers. *Id.*

That is precisely what the trial court did here. It looked at behaviors observed by Officer Asplund during the SFSTs and found that those behaviors would not lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably operated a vehicle while intoxicated. *See Koch*, 175 Wis. 2d at 701 (1993). It therefore excluded those behaviors from its consideration as to whether probable cause existed to arrest Herrera Ayala.

> C. The trial court's decision is consistent with case law addressing officers' responsibilities when conveying implied consent warnings to suspects who have language barriers.

The state argues that two cases addressing what is required of officers when conveying implied consent warnings support its position that the trial court erred. (State's Brief at 14); *see also State v. Begicevic*, 2004 WI App 57, 270 Wis. 2d 675, 678 N.W.2d 293; *State v. Piddington*, 2001 WI 24, 241 Wis. 2d 754, 623 N.W.2d 528. *Begicevic* and *Piddington* both address the legal sufficiency of officers' communication of information that is statutorily required to be given to defendants—implied consent warnings. Thus, the focus is on "the objective conduct of the law enforcement officer or officers involved." *Piddington*, 241 Wis. 2d 754, ¶¶22-23; 32 n.19.

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